IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO. DCA CASE NO. 89-01900 Florida Bar No: 184170

ED RICKE & SONS, INC., a Florida corporation,

Petitioner,

VS 🛛

5.

٠.

DEMETRIUS OCTAVIUS GREEN, a minor, by and through his Guardian of the Property, EDWARD P. SWAN, ESQUIRE,

Respondent.

FILED SID J. WHITE OCT 28 1991 CLERK DUPREME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION ED RICKE & SONS, INC., a Florida corporation

(With Appendix)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

The opinion of the Third District is in direct and express conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Slavin v. Kay</u>, 108 So.2d **462** (Fla. 1958), and has created new law in Florida announcing for the first time anywhere, that hot water is a dangerous instrumentality sufficient to preclude the application of the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine. The alleged negligent act, hot water spewing out of an outside drain pipe, allegedly due to a defective gas water heater, took place over a quarter of a century ago, and the time period involving this litigation is nearly thirty years. The following is an abbreviated chronology of the facts which led to the Third District announcing for the first time anywhere in Florida the new "hot water" exception to the application af the Slavin doctrine:

August 2, 1963 - HUD through the Miami Housing Authority has plans drawn up to convert solar to gas water heaters at the Scott Homes Project.

January 1965 - Yoyner construction Company, Inc. awarded a contract €or alteration and repairs and installation of water heaters; including Building #37, site of Green's accident.

June 7, 1965 - Final plumbing inspection on Joyner's construction work on Building #37.

January 5, 1966 - Ed Ricke & sos, Inc. awarded the contract to do similar alteration and repairs including building next to Building #37.

way 20, 1966 - Alteration work completed by Ed Ricke and approved by landowner, Miami Housing Authority (no work on Building #37).

1968 - Dade County takes over HUD housing project from Miami Housing Authority.

1969 - Hot water spewing from drain pipe outside Building #37, pooling on ground on regular basis: resident children warming themselves from the steam generated by the hot water draining from outside pipe at Building #37.

December 1976 - Homeowners make requests for repairs to water heater to Dade County Building Maintenance; numerous repairs to

-1-

LAW OFFICES RICHARDA SHERMAN, PA

SUITE 302, 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE.. FORT LAUOERDALE, FLA 33316 • TEL (305)525-5885 SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING, 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA 33130 • TEL (305)940-7557 the hot water heater and relief value performed by landowner, Dade County in Building #37.

March 1977 - Vicky Paxton burned by hot water pooling under drain pipe outside Building #37; landowner, Dade County notified of child's injury.

March 13, 1977 - Demetrius Green burned because of hot water spewing from drain pipe outside Building #37.

March 21, 1977 - Green sues Dade County, HUD and Florida Gas Company; parties settle.

May 2, 1980 - Green sues architect Rader & Associates, Marr Plumbing, Ed Ricke & Sons, Inc., etc.

December 2, 1980 - Ed Ricke & sons answer expressly denying all allegations in Green's complaint that Ricke installed the subject water heater and drain; Ricke raises the affirmative defenses of the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine.

October 1980 - Green settles with subcontractor Marr Plumbing for \$300,000.

April 13, 1982 - First trial ends in mistrial.

April 16, 1982 - Verdict in favor of Ricke; reversed by this Court March 28, 1985. <u>Ed Ricke & Sons, Inc. v. Green</u>, 468 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1985).

April 7, 1986 - Third trial. Ricke takes mistrial in order to do further discovery to rebut new evidence that Ricke did not do construction work on Building #37.

July 31, 1989 - Trial court grants Summary Judgment in favor or Ricke based on the fact that it did not do the construction work and denies Ricke's Motion for Summary Judgment under the Slavin doctrine.

The Third District avoided the clear application of the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine in this case by finding that since the hot water, which injured the Plaintiff, was connected to a gas water heater, the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine did not apply; which would have exonerated Ricke. The responsible party under the <u>Slavin</u> rule was the landowner, Dade County, which undisputedly had knowledge of the alleged defective gas water heater, as well as knowledge of the hat water draining on the outside of the building, which injured two children. <u>Green v. Ed Ricke & Sons. Inc.</u>, 16 FLW D2212 (Fla. **3d** DCA, August 20, 1991); (A 1-2). The Third District also found

-2-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A SHERMAN, PA

SUITE 302.1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE, FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA. 33316 • TEL (305)525-5885 SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING. IS WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA. 33130 • TEL. (305)940-7557 that **Ricke** was estopped from denying liability for the accident; even though there were three prior mistrials, and Ricke never successfully assumed a factual position to the prejudice of Green (A 102).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District's opinion is in direct and express conflict with decisions out of this Court; <u>Slavin; Chadbourne;</u> and <u>Palm Beach</u>; has created a new exception to the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine finding that hot water is inherently dangerous; and this Court has jurisdiction to reconcile the conflict and to address the new legal principles announced by the Third District.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION BELOW IS IN DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH <u>SLAVIN, CHADBOURNE</u>, and <u>PALM</u> <u>BEACH</u>, AND HAS ANNOUNCED NEW PRINCIPLES OF LAW, IN CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT.

It is totally undisputed that Demetrius Green was injured when he fell in a puddle of hot water, from a drain pipe outside the apartment building he lived in.

It is totally undisputed that, if Ricke is responsible for the alteration and repairs to Building #37, that this work was turned over to the landowner, and accepted in 1966, 11 years prior to the Plaintiff's accident. It was also undisputedly established in the Record that, from 1969 to the date of the accident, Dade County, the subsequent landowner, was aware of the open and obvious, dangerous condition; as hot steamy water was spewing forth from the drain pipe on the outside of Building #37

-3-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A SHERMAN, P.A.

SUITE 302, 1777SOUTH ANDREWS AVE., FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA. 33318 • TEL. (305 525 - 5885 SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING. 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA. 33130 • TEL. (305 940.7557 from 1969, to the date of the Plaintiff's accident in 1977. Numerous requests had been made to repair the heating systems in Building #37, and a child was burned by the water coming out of the drip pipe **just** two weeks before Green was injured, and **still** Dade County failed to correct this known dangerous condition. It was only after Green was also burned that Dade County ordered the water heater replaced, to prevent hot water from escaping through the drain pipe on the outside of the building.

As a matter of well established Florida law, once the landowner accepted the construction work done at the Scott Homes Project, it became exclusively liable for any injuries caused by an open and obvious defective condition on the premises. The <u>Slavin</u> doctrine provides that a contractor is relieved of liability for injuries to third parties occurring after the owner has accepted the project, if the owner could have discovered and remedied any alleged dangerous conditions. The policy behind the rule is that it would be unfair to hold a contractor liable for an indefinite period of time for work which has been accepted and inspected by the owner of the premises.

> By occupying and resuming possession of the work, the owner deprives a contractor of all opportunity to rectify his wrong. Before accepting the work as being in full compliance with the terms of the contract, he is presumed to have made a reasonably careful inspection thereof and to know of its defects and if he takes it in the defective condition, he accepts the defects and the negligence that cause them as his own, and thereafter stands forth as their author. When he accepts work that is in a dangerous condition, the immediate duty devolves upon him to make it safe, and if he fails to

-4-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A SHERMAN, PA SUITE 302, 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE, FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA 33316 • TEL (305)625-5885 SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING, 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI. FLA. 33130 • TEL. (*305)*940-7557 perform this duty, and a third person is injured it is his negligence that is the proximate cause of the injury. <u>Slavin V.</u> <u>Kay</u>, 108 So.2d 462,466 (Fla. 1958).

This is graphically illustrated in the present case; where Green sued Ricke in 1980, 14 years after the work was completed. Dade County took over the housing project in 1968 from the original owner, the City of Miami Housing Authority. It is undisputed that Dade County was fully responsible for the maintenance and repairs at the project and had full knowledge of the defective heater and the dripping hot water outside and had attempted to repair it. This Court has refused to abandon the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine. <u>Edward M. Chadbourne. Inc. v. Vaughn</u>, 491 So.2d 551 (Fla. 1986). In addition, numerous appellate court decisions have **also** adhered to the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine; which was restated by the Supreme Court in Chadbourne:

> The key to our holding in <u>Slavin</u> is the patentness of the defect or the owner's knowledge of the defect and the failure to remedy the defect, not whether the party is a contractor. It would be contrary to public policy as well as good common sense to hold a person, whether they are characterized as a manufacturer or a contractor, strictly liable when the defect is patent or known to the owner.

Chadbourne, 554.

In the present case, the condition of the water heater and the hot steamy water, which would spew out of the drain pipe, was open, obvious, and known to Dade County for at least eight years <u>before</u> the Plaintiff's accident. Numerous complaints were made to Dade County; repair orders were issued and work done on the

-5-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A

SUITE 302, 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE.. FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA. 33316 • TEL. (305) 525 • 5885 SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING. 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA. 33130 • TEL (305) 940-7557

gas water heater; which was finally replaced immediately after Green's accident. It was an open and obvious condition of which the County was undisputedly aware. Numerous appellate court decisions adhered to the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine and affirmed summary judgments or dismissal of complaints, where the condition causing the injury was a patent one. The basis for relieving the original contractor, architect, subcontractor, etc., is that the chain of causation is broken, as soon as the landowner accepts the work, where the dangerous condition is patent and discoverable prior to the injury. <u>Seitz v. Zac Smith & Company</u>, Inc., 500 So,2d 706 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Summary judgment for the contractor, manufacturer, subcontractors, etc., was affirmed in <u>Seitz</u>, where an employee was injured when he fell from a flood light tower. The Escambia School Board had contracted to have flood light towers built at the high school stadium. The tower was built from prefabricated sections and was improperly assembled at the high school site. The result was there was a peg missing from the area in which a person could climb the tower to make repairs, etc. The School Board accepted the construction project with the missing peg. Subsequent to acceptance, an electrician's helper was injured when he lost his footing and balance, when he stepped into the area of the missing peg and fell to the ground.

It was undisputed that the defect of the missing peg was obvious and discoverable upon reasonable inspection. The First District traced the development of the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine in its

-6-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P A SUITE 302, 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE.. FORT LAUOERDALE, FLA 33316 • TEL (305)525-5885 SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING. 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA 33130 • TEL. (305)940-7557 opinion, and stated that the contractor is relieved from liability, because it could have no present duty to the third party, if the premises are in the control of the owner at the time of the injury and it was the intervening negligence of the owner in failing to correct the dangerous condition that proximately caused the injury. Based on this principle, the First District affirmed the summary judgment in favor of the contractors and subcontractors, noting that the defect was open and obvious and accepted by the owner and it was the School Board's failure to make the tower safe that was the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury. <u>Seitz</u>, 711.

Interestingly, the Third District relied on <u>Seitz</u> and two of its own decisions to hold that this case fell within an exception to <u>Slavin</u> (A2). The court reasoned, where the proximate cause of the Plaintiff's injury was hot water from a gas water heater, and since gas has been held to be inherently dangerous, it followed that water was inherently dangerous, and therefore the <u>Slavin</u> exception applied. However, even the two cases cited by the Third District do not support the inherently dangerous elements exception to the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine, in this case.

In <u>Farber v. Houston Corporation</u>, 150 So.2d 732 (Fla. 3d DCA 1963), the Third District simply held that natural gas was a dangerous commodity and that a jury question existed as to the degree of care shown by the corporation handling the gas. <u>Farber</u>, <u>supra</u>. In that case, there was an explosion from gas which had leaked through a gas line in the street. The Plaintiff

-7-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD & SHERMAN, P.A SUITE 302. 1777 SOUTH ANOREWS AVE, FORT LAUDERDALE. FLA. 33316 • TEL (305)525-5885 SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING, 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA 33130 • TEL (305)940-7557 in this case was not injured by an explosion of the gas water heater or by leaking gas. The Third District also relied an its decision of <u>Florida Freight Terminals</u>, Inc. v. Cabanas, 354 So.2d 1222, 1225 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), for the general principles that an exception to the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine exists were parties are dealing with inherently dangerous elements; however, that case dealt with the crash of a cargo plane carrying Christmas trees into the Inglesias home, killing members of that family.

To date, no **case** in Florida has held that hot water is inherently dangerous, whether it is connected to a gas or an electric water heater. Similarly, no case in Florida has ever held that a plaintiff can recover for damages caused by an instrumentality connected with gas where the gas itself is not the cause of the injury. Therefore, the Third District has created new law in Florida in direct and express conflict with numerous decisions across the State, especially this Court's decisions in <u>Slavin, Chadbourne</u> and the First District's decision in <u>Seitz</u>.

<u>Estoppel</u>

It is undisputed that Ed Ricke d i not do the construction work at building #37 where Green was injured. The Third District held that it was estopped from denying responsibility based on events occurring during the second and third trial in this case (A 1). Ricke denied installing the water heater in question, expressly in its Answer to the original Complaint. During the 13 years of litigation against Ricke, Ricke has never successfully

-a-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN. P A SUITE 302, 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE., FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA 33316 • TEL. (305) 525-5885 SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING. 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA 33130 • TEL. (305) 940.7557

assumed any factual position on the record, rather has lost all the way down the line, up to and including the reversal of the Summary Judgment in its favor by the Third District in the present case. This Court held that in Atlantic Coast Line Railroad Company v. Boone, 85 So.2d 834 (Fla. 1956), that a new trial has the effect of vacating the final judgment and completely revitalizing the entire cause for further proceedings in the form of **a** new trial. When this Court initially reversed the original verdict for Ricke, it was as if the case was being started from the beginning. Ed Ricke, supra. Therefore, the evidence that Ricke presented in the third trial regarding the fact that it had not done the construction in this case, was totally proper and in no way could act as an estoppel. The Third District cited Palm Beach Co. v. Palm Beach Estates, 110 Fla. 77, 148 So. 544 (Fla. 1933), where this Court held that a party is estopped to change his position to the adversary's injury if the party "successfully assumes a factual position on the record to the prejudice of his adversary." Palm Beach, 549. As pointed out, Ricke has not been successful throughout 13 years of litigation and has never successfully assumed a factual position which would estop it from denying that it was responsible for the construction at Building #37; especially where the record is undisputed that Ricke did not do this construction. The Third District's opinion is in direct and express conflict with the decision in Palm Beach, and for this additional reason this Court has jurisdiction to review the opinion below.

-9-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A SHERMAN. P. A SUITE 302, 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE., FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA. 33316 • TEL. (305) 525-5885 SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING, I9 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA. 33130 • TEL. (305) 940-7557

<u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Third District's opinion is in direct and express conflict with decisions out of this Court; <u>Slavin</u>; <u>Chadbourne</u>; and <u>Palm Beach</u>; has created a new exception to the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine finding that hot water is inherently dangerous; and this Court has jurisdiction to reconcile the conflict and to address the new legal principles announced by the Third District.

> Law Offices of RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. Richard A. Sherman, Esquire Rosemary B. Wilder, Esquire Suite 302 1777 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (305) 525-5885 - Broward (305) 940-7557 - Dade

By: <u>(&</u> Richard

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A SHERMAN, P.A. SUITE 302, 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE., FORT LAUUEROALE, FLA. 33316 • TEL (305)525-5885 SUITE 206 BISCAYNE BUILDING, 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA. 33130 • TEL. (305)940-7557

-10-