IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,860

FILED
NOV 20 1991
CLERK, SUPREME COURT,
By Chief Deputy Clerk

ED RICKE & SONS, INC., a Florida corporation,

Petitioner,

vs.

DEMETRIUS OCTAVIUS GREEN, **a** minor, by **and** through **his** Guardian of the Property Edward P. Swan,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

DONALD FELDMAN, ESQ. 1499 W. Palmetto Road Suite 320 Boca Raton, Florida 33486 jand-ANIELS & TALISMAN, P.A. Suite 2401, New World Tower 100 N. Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33132 (305) 381-7720

Attorneys for Respondent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In an attempt to create conflict where none exists, the Petitioner has drafted its Statement of the Case and Facts by totally ignoring the decision of the Third District. Although the practice has been condemned as misleading by this Court¹, Ricke has set forth many "facts" not contained within the four corners of the decision² and has set forth as "facts" statements which are contradicted by that decision.³ Of necessity, therefore, respondent Green will set forth below the facts as recited by the Third District.

Ricke takes position it installed the water heater

In 1977, Demetrius Green was seriously burned when he fell into a deep puddle of boiling water which had been discharged from a faulty Vulcan water heater located in building #37 at the James E. Scott housing project. $(A.2).^4$ In May 1980 --- eleven months before the statute of limitations ran -- he filed suit against Ed Ricke & Sons alleging that Ricke contracted with the Dade County

³ Ricke asserts that it expressly denied in its answer that it installed the water heater in question and that it is undisputed that it did not do so. In fact, the answer simply stated that Ricke was without knowledge as to this allegation and the opinion shows that there was evidence that Ricke installed the water heater -- its own superintendent so testified at the last trial.

⁴ This court previously described this water as superheated in Ed Ricke & Sons v. Green, 468 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1985). This decision is referred to by the Third District in its opinion and is thus incorporated therein by reference.

¹ Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 n.3 (Fla. 1986).

² The following are just an example: date plans for conversion drawn; date of Joyner contract and inspection; that Ricke's work was approved or accepted by the City; that Dade County took over the project; that Dade County knew of problems with the water heater; and, that Green sued other parties.

Housing Authority to convert the Scott water heaters from solar power to gas; that the water heater in building #37 was negligently installed; and, that this negligence caused his injury. Ricke answered and pled that it was without knowledge as to who installed the defective heater. (A, 2, 5),

In 1981, Ricke moved for summary judgment on the basis of the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine, arguing that, although it installed the gas distribution system at the **project**, this work was turned over to, and accepted by, Dade County prior to the accident, relieving **it** of liability. The trial court denied the motion. (A.2).

Prior to the first trial, L.R. Hargis, the former director of maintenance for Dade County Housing, was deposed. He testified that the water heaters installed by Ricke were Vulcan water heaters -- as was the one which injured Demetrius, (A, 2-3),

At trial in 1982, Ricke read Hargis's deposition testimony into evidence. Ricke also requested two jury instructions, which the court gave, that stated that the issues for determination were whether Ricke was negligent with respect to the installation of the water heater and whether, after the installation by Ricke, there was any intervening and supervening negligence. (A.3).

The jury returned a verdict for Ricke. On appeal, the Third District reversed and remanded for a new trial finding that Ricke violated an order in limine. <u>Green v. Ed Ricke & Sons, Inc.</u>, **438** So.2d 25 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). In so ruling the court found: "This action was then instituted against the general contractor, Ed Ricke and Sons, Inc., which installed the water heaters. . . on grounds that the **defect** which caused the leakage was due to the negligent **installation."** <u>Id</u>. at 26. This Court affirmed, <u>Ed Ricke & Sons</u>,

<u>Inc. v. Green</u>, **468** So,2d 908 (Fla. 1985), and remanded the case for a new trial. (A.3).⁵

Ricke's surprise about face

The next trial began on April 7, 1986. Ricke took the same position in opening statement that it had taken for the last **6** years -- it was not negligent in installing the water heater. (A.3). Ricke's superintendent, who oversaw the work done by Ricke, testified that Ed Ricke and Sons had installed the heater that injured Green. (A.3, n.2). Then, three days into the trial, Ricke's expert presented evidence that another construction company had performed the installation for the water heater in question. (A.3). A mistrial was granted and a new trial was set. (A.4).

Prior to that Ricke moved for summary judgment alleging that there was undisputed evidence that it had not done the work complained of and, alternatively, that it was not liable under the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine. The trial court entered summary judgment in Ricke's favor, finding no genuine issues of material fact on the issue of who installed the water heater. It denied summary judgment on Ricke's alternative theory. (A.4).

The Third District's holding

The Third District reversed the granting of summary judgment holding that Ricke was estopped from introducing evidence inconsistent with its prior position in the litigation. (A.4). As the court found:

> It is difficult to imagine a case to which estoppel would more clearly apply. Green filed a complaint against Ricke in May, 1989, eleven months before the statute of limita-

DANIELS & TALISMAN, P.A. SUITE 2401 NEW WORLD TOWER, IOO NORTH BISCAYNE BOULEVARD, MIAMI, FL 33132-2513 • TEL (305 B81-7720

⁵ This Court stated: "Ed Ricke & Sons, Inc. installed the water heater," 468 So.2d at 909.

tions ran. Ricke answered that it was without knowledge as to whether it installed the water heater and, in the first trial, never defended on the ground that it had not installed it. In fact, Ricke asked the court to instruct the jury in the first trial that it had installed the heater and maintained this position on appeal and during its opening statement in the second trial. Then, **six** years after suit was filed **and** five years after the statute of limitations had run, Ricke changed its position based upon "newly discovered evidence" which absolved it from liability.

Ricke had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue of who installed the water heater. Having elected not to dispute this issue at the first trial or on appeal, Ricke is precluded from offering evidence that it did not install the heater in question. Our decision is in keeping with this court's condemnation of a "gotcha school of litigation." Salcedo V. Asociacion Cubana, Inc., 368 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 3d DCA), cert. denied, 378 So.2d 342 (Fla. 1979). See also Sobel v. Jefferson Stores, Inc., 459 So.2d 433 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984).

(A.5-6).

The Third District also affirmed the trial court's denial of summary judgment based on the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine:

The work in question was the installation of a gas water heater system. Florida courts have consistently held that instrumentalities connected with gas are inherently dangerous. <u>Seitz v. Zac Smith & Co.</u>, 500 So.2d 706 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); <u>Farber v. Houston Corp.</u>, 150 So.2d 732 (Fla, 3d DCA 1962). This case falls within the exception to <u>Slavin</u>, and the trial court correctly denied the motion.

Ed Ricke moved for and was denied rehearing. It is now seeking review based on alleged conflict with <u>Slavin v. Kay</u>, 108 So.2d **462** (Fla. 1958), <u>Edward M. Chadbourne, Inc. v. Vaushn</u>, 491 So.2d 551 (Fla. 1986), and <u>Palm Beach Countv v. Palm Beach Estates</u>, 148 So. **544** (Fla. 1933).

JURISDICTIONAL ISSUES

Although Ricke has stated only one issue, it contends that the opinion contains two separate conflicts. Therefore, Green restates the issues as follows:

I.

WHETHER THE DECISION BELOW EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN <u>SLAVIN</u> AND <u>CHADBOURNE</u>?

II.

WHETHER THE DECISION BELOW EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN <u>PALM BEACH COUNTY</u>?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u> does not expressly and directly conflict with this Court's earlier decisions on the <u>Slavin</u> doctrine. It simply applies a clearly recognized exception to that doctrine to a new fact situation. Further, it is clear that the work performed -- installation of a gas hot **water** heater system -clearly fits within the 'inherently dangerous' exception. Thus, there is no conflict and no reason for this Court to accept jurisdiction to review this decision.

Further, the Third District expressly found that Ricke, throughout **6** years of litigation, had successfully assumed the position that it had installed the water heater in question and that, as a result, it was estopped from asserting that it had not done so after the statute of limitations had run. This ruling is entirely consistent with the dictates of <u>Palm Beach County</u>. Again, there is no express and direct conflict.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>No express and direct conflict with Slavin or Chadbourne.</u>

Conflict jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution exists only where the conflict between decisions is "express and direct." Such a conflict does not exist if the facts or the issues decided in the case at bar are distinguishable from those in the cases cited as being in conflict. <u>Department of Revenue v. Johnston</u>, **442 So.2d** 950 (Fla. 1983); <u>In Re</u> <u>Interest of M.P.</u>, 472 **So.2d** 732 (Fla. 1985).

Here, the **facts sub** judice are entirely different from those in <u>Slavin</u> and <u>Chadbourne</u>. <u>Slavin</u> dealt with liability where a sink fell off a wall and <u>Chadbourne</u> with liability for construction of a road. This case, on the other hand, centers on installation of a gas hot water heater system. The issues involved are also different. Neither <u>Slavin</u> nor <u>Chadbourne</u> dealt with the inherently dangerous exception to the doctrine -- it was not contended that installation of either a sink or a road involved inherently dangerous elements. Thus, there is no express and direct conflict between the opinions.

Rather, the Third District's opinion is fully in accord with <u>Slavin</u> and the cases which follow it. In <u>Slavin</u>, this Court recognized the

clear exception to the ordinary rule by which all parties dealing with inherently dangerous elements are held jointly liable without regard to termination of contract or acceptance of the work.

108 So.2d at 465. Here, the Third District simply applied this exception:

The work in question was the installation of a gas water heater system. Florida courts have consistently held that instrumentalities connected with gas are inherently dangerous. <u>Seitz v. Zac Smith & Co.</u>, 500 So.2d 706 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); <u>Farber v. Houston Corp.</u>, 150 So.2d 732 (Fla. 3d DCA 1963). This case falls within the exception to <u>Slavin</u>, and the trial court correctly denied the motion.

Natural gas is inherently dangerous •• Ricke does not even deny this. All Ricke claims is that hot water is not inherently dangerous and that since it was **water** not gas which caused the injury the inherent danger exception does not apply. This argument does not create express and direct conflict.

First, as Ed Ricke admits, there is no Florida case holding that boiling water -- water heated to such a high temperature that even after discharge it is hot enough to cause severe burns upon contact -- is not inherently dangerous. Certainly, it fits within the definition of that concept. <u>See Seitz v. Zac Smith & Co. Inc.</u>, 500 So.2d 706, 710 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Superheated water is so imminently dangerous in kind as to imperil the life or limb of any person who uses it. Further, the danger -- burning -- inheres in the substance at all times and requires special precautions to prevent injury to anyone coming in contact with or using it. Thus, there is no express and direct conflict on this point.

Second, again as Ricke admits, no case in Florida has ever held that a plaintiff cannot recover for damages **caused** by an instrumentality connected with gas where the gas itself is not the cause of the **injury**.⁶ Moreover, this argument ignores the fact that Ricke undertook to install an entire gas water heater system.

SUITE 2401 NEW WORLD TOWER, IOO NORTH BISCAYNE BOULEVARD, MIAMI, FL 33132-2513 . TEL. (305)381-7720

⁶ Ricke actually argues that in so holding the Third District has created new law. This is not sufficient to create an express and direct conflict.

Thus, its work involved inherently dangerous elements. That is sufficient under <u>Slavin</u>. Further, the superheated water in question was spewing out of the relief valve in order to prevent an explosion of the heater. Thus, there is a link between the inherent danger of the gas and the injury in this case. Again, there is no express and direct conflict. Rather, the decision <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u> is consistent with the entire line of <u>Slavin</u> cases.

B. <u>No express and direct conflict with Palm Bench County</u>.

Finally, Ed Ricke asserts that the decision in question expressly and directly conflicts with <u>Palm Beach County v. Palm</u> <u>Beach Estates</u>, 148 So. 544 (Fla. 1933) because it was held to be estopped even though it had never successfully assumed any factual position on the record but had lost all of the way down the line. Ricke is mistaking success in litigation with success in assuming a factual position. As this Court fully explained in <u>Palm Beach</u> <u>County</u>:

> [A] party, who in an earlier suit on the same cause of action, or in an earlier proceeding setting up his status or relationship to the subject-matter of his status or relationship successfully assumes a factual position on the **record** to the prejudice of his adversary, whether by verdict, findings of fact, or admissions in his adversary's pleadings operating **as** a confession of facts he has alleged, cannot, in a later suit on the same cause of action, change his position to his adversary's injury, whether he was successful in the outcome of his former litigation or not.

148 So. at 549.

Here, as the Third District found, for 6 years Ricke never defended on the ground it had not installed the water heater in question. Rather, it took the opposite position -- it **argued** and

SUITE 2401 NEW WORLW TOWER, IOO NORTH EISCAYNE BOULEVARD, MIAMI, FL 33132-2513 . TEL. (305)381-7720

presented testimony showing that it had done the work; it requested and received jury instructions to that effect; and, it led both the Third District and this Court to find in an earlier appeal that it had installed the water heater in question. Further, it was only after the statute of limitations had run that Ricke changed its position. Thus, it is clear from the opinion both that Ricke had originally successfully asserted the factual position that it installed the water heater and that the change in position after **6** years would prejudice the **plaintiffs**.⁷ Thus, the Third District followed the dictates of <u>Palm Beach Co</u>. The two decisions are consistent; they do not expressly and directly conflict.

CONCLUSION

Based on the reasons and authorities set forth above, it is respectfully submitted that no express and direct conflict exists and, accordingly, this Court should decline to accept jurisdiction over this cause.